# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

# $FILED_{\text{SHD J. WHITE}}D$

MAR 31 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Cl

CASE NO. 82,933

BARBARA A. SAVONA,

Plaintiff-Appellant/Petitioner,

versus

PRUDENTIAL INSURANCE CO.,

Defendant-Appellee/Respondent./

CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS ELEVENTH CIRCUIT, CASE # 93-2281 BASED ON APPEAL FROM MAGISTRATE'S ORDER U.S. DISTRICT COURT MIDDLE DISTRICT FLORIDA, CASE # 91-462-CIV-ORL-19

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF, SAVONA**

CHARLES E. DAVIS, ESQUIRE Charles E. Davis, P. A. P.O. Box 568569 Orlando, Fl 32856 (407) 293-1510 Florida Bar # 254959 Attorney for Savona

## **

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether, under Florida Statute section 627.6675 (1987), a conversion insurance policy must provide benefits equal to those provided under the original group insurance policy, and correspondingly whether the Magistrate at the Federal District Court was bound to follow and award Plaintiff \$1,000,000 in lifetime health coverage according to the uncontroverted case law as set forth in two Florida appellate districts as well as statutory history.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Course of Proceedings

This suit was initiated by the filing of Plaintiff's Petition for Declaratory Relief in state court on June 14, 1991 (R1-2). The Defendant filed a Notice of Removal of the Civil Action from the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, in for Orange County, Florida, to the United States District Court, in and for the Middle District of Florida (R1-1). The Notice of Removal and notification of new case number was entered on August 2, 1991 (R1-7).

On July 16, 1991, the Defendant filed an Answer to Count I of the Complaint, and a Motion to Dismiss and/or Strike Count II of the Petition.(R1-3;R1-4) In opposition to Defendant's motions, the Plaintiff filed a Response to said motion (R1-9).

On August 27, 1991, the Plaintiff filed an Amended Petition for Declaratory Relief and Amended Complaint for Breach of Contract (R1-13). Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss, and/or Strike Amended Petition for Declaratory Relief and Complaint for Breach of Contract.(R1-16)

On December 10, 1991, the case was assigned to trial by Magistrate. Plaintiff filed her consent to that procedure on January 8, 1992. (R1-19)

On February 20, 1992 an order was entered granting the Motion to Strike the Amended Petition (R1-20). The Plaintiff filed an Amended Petition for Relief on March 12, 1992 (R1-21). Defendant again filed a Motion to Dismiss and/or Strike Count II of Amended Complaint (R2-22), and shortly thereafter Plaintiff filed a Response to that Motion. On May 14, 1992, an Order granting Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Strike Count II of Amended petition for declaratory relief was granted. Count II was dismissed for failure to state a cause of action. (R2-30).

On May 14, 1992, a status conference was held wherein the Plaintiff and Defendant agreed to a stipulation of facts. (R2-31)

On June 23, 1992, Defendant filed its Memorandum for final ruling (R2-35). Plaintiff filed her Memorandum on June 24, 1992 (R2-36). Notice of Supplemental Authority was filed by the Defendant on October 19, 1992 (R2-41). The Plaintiff filed a Notice of Supplemental Authority on October 19, 1992.(R2-42)

On February 12, 1993 the Court filed its Memorandum of Opinion. (R2-43) The Memorandum Opinion declined to follow the Florida District Court of Appeal decisions of <u>Blue Cross/Blue Shield v. Shufelt, 487 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986)</u> and <u>Northbrook Life Insurance v. Clark, 582 So.2d 1199 (Fla, 2nd DCA 1991)</u>. The Court further found that the provision of a \$250,000 lifetime major medical benefit was all that was required under the plain language of subsections (8) and (11) of section 627.6675 (1990). (R2-43) Judgment was entered on February 12, 1993 for the Defendant and against the Plaintiff (R2-44).

The Plaintiff filed her Notice of Appeal from the Final Judgment on March 15, 1993 (R2-45). The case was then briefed at the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, and they chose to certify this question to the Florida Supreme Court.

3

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This was an action for declaratory relief brought pursuant to Florida Statute §86.011, and an action for breach of contract in failing to comply with Florida Statute §627.6675. That on or about January 29, 1986, the Plaintiff, BARBARA A. SAVONA, was employed by the Hotel Royal Plaza and was entitled to group health benefits under a policy issued PRUDENTIAL INSURANCE COMPANY. Further on that date, the Plaintiff, BARBARA A. SAVONA, was involved in a catastrophic motor vehicle accident which rendered her totally disabled, and as such she was eventually terminated from the group policy pursuant to the terms of that policy.

That BARBARA A. SAVONA, after termination of the group policy, was entitled to a conversion to an individual policy; and the Defendant/Appellee eventually issued an individual conversion policy (on approximately November 26, 1987) after accepting BARBARA A. SAVONA's application. However, the Defendant, PRUDENTIAL, did not furnish timely copies of the policy, its terms, conditions, or premium rates prior to issuing said policy.(R1-2-exhibits)

In fact, Defendant, PRUDENTIAL, eventually refused to offer any other policy maximum limits besides \$100,000.00 or \$250,000.00, despite the fact that the Plaintiff, BARBARA A. SAVONA, was previously covered with a \$1,000,000.00 lifetime policy and had requested those limits in the individual conversion.

Plaintiff advised that said refusal was in violation of Florida Statute §627.6675, and the established law in Florida as found in the <u>Blue Cross/Blue Shield v. Shufelt</u>, 487 So.26 1085, (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). Litigation then followed.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff contends that the Magistrate should have followed the Florida case law set forth in Northbrook Life Insurance v. Clark, 582 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991) and <u>Blue</u> <u>Cross/Blue Shield v. Shufelt</u>, 487 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). Those cases clearly set forth that the intent of Florida Statute section 627.6675 (1987) requires that an individual receive the right to a conversion policy with benefits equal to those provided under the original group plan. In other words, Plaintiff, Barbara Savona should have been given the right to a conversion policy with the same \$1,000,000 lifetime benefits as her group policy, not \$250,000 as now ruled appropriate by the Magistrate.

Plaintiff further contends that the District Magistrate should not have attempted to make an educated prediction on behalf of the Florida Supreme Court when the federal law seems to prohibit same. <u>Flintkote v. Dravo</u>, 678 F.2d 942, 945 (11th Cir. 1982).

Lastly, the fact that the Florida legislature in amending section 627.6675 specifically chose to pass (in March 1992), and then delete (in July 1992 before the effective date of the March revision) the provisions of subsection (20) which attempted to make retroactive or retrospective changes to overrule cases like <u>Clark</u> and <u>Shufelt</u> is persuasive against the Magistrate's prediction. Further, the legislature decided that \$500,000 was more appropriate than the \$250,000 offered to Plaintiff.

Thus, Plaintiff, Barbara Savona, submits that Prudential should be required to issue a \$1,000,000 lifetime individual conversion policy.

5

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

This case is before the court only on a certified question of Florida law, and is not in anyway connected with ERISA, as might be contended by PRUDENTIAL. The decision of the Magistrate and the submission of the certified question to the Florida Supreme Court for its interpretation puts the issue of the applicability of ERISA versus Florida law to rest.

Florida Statute section 627.6675 (1987) as interpreted in <u>Northbrook</u> and <u>Shufelt</u> specifically mandates a minimum coverage to be afforded upon conversion, but also requires the insurance company to provide benefits equal to those provided under the group policy. Thus, Plaintiff should have been provided \$1,000,000 in benefits because there is no equivocation or dispute between the Fifth and Second District Courts of Appeal in Florida as to this applicability or interpretation of this statute.

While it is true that this Court has not yet spoken on the case law generated interpreting this statute, the Federal Magistrate was incorrect in attempting to predict. There is no conflict in the Florida intermediate courts as to the proper construction of this statute, and the law to which the Magistrate was obliged to follow is found in <u>Flintkote Co.</u> v. <u>Dravo</u> at 945, wherein the court ruled that "only where no state court has decided the point in issue may a federal court make an educated guess as to how that state's supreme court would rule." Likewise, the law of the Eleventh Circuit as found in <u>Silverberg v. Paine</u> <u>Webber</u>, 710 F.2d 678, 690 (11th Cir. 1983) seems to say that where there was no indication that the Florida Supreme Court would choose <u>not</u> to enforce a particular statutory

requirement which was more stringent and offered greater protection to the citizens of the state, the federal court is bound to follow the state decisions. <u>Studstill v. Borg Warner</u> <u>Leasing</u>, 800 F.2d 1005, 1007 (11th Cir. 1986) and <u>Provau v. State Farm Mutual Insurance</u> <u>Co.</u>, 777 F.Supp. 817, 820 (1985), hold likewise and add that these intermediate state court decisions must be followed even if the federal courts don't like the reasoning or the outcome.

Further, the Magistrate's analysis of the amendments to section 627.6675 are extremely important for this Court. As stated, the legislature amended the law in March 1992, in the Laws of Florida, Chapter 92-33, section 138, to become effective October 1, 1992. Of particular relevance are the new subsections (10) and (20) as amended, while the renumbered subsection (15) is the same as old (17), and thus of no new significance. New subsection (10) purported to reduce the maximum benefit to \$250,000, and new subsection (20) read as follows:

Nothing in this section or in the incorporation of it into insurance policies shall be construed to require insurers to provide benefits equal to those provided in the group policy from which the individual converted. Further, the legislature finds and declares that this subsection is a clarification and specification of the legislative intent of this section prior to the enactment; and that in light of confusion relating to the rights and obligations of insurers and insureds resulting from judicial and administrative interpretations of this section, the state has great interest in giving retrospective intent to this clarification. The Legislature therefore intends that this section be give such retrospective effect as is necessary to clarify that it does not, and did not before this enactment, require the issuance of conversion policies providing benefits equal to those provided in the group policy from which the individual converted.

Once again this amendment was meant to become effective on October 1, 1992, but before

that date, on July 7, 1992, the legislature again amended this statute in Laws of Florida, Chapter 92-318, section 116. Therefore, the March amendments never became law, at least as they apply to this case.

Of great significance to this case, and the legislative intent if any other than already interpreted in both <u>Northbrook</u> and <u>Shufelt</u>, is the **deletion** of the following language from new subsection (20):

Further, the legislature finds and declares that this subsection is a clarification and specification of the legislative intent of this section prior to the enactment; and that in light of confusion relating to the rights and obligations of insurers and insureds resulting from judicial and administrative interpretations of this section, the state has great interest in giving retrospective intent to this clarification. The Legislature therefore intends that this section be given such retrospective effect as is necessary to clarify that it does not, and did not before this enactment, require the issuance of conversion policies providing benefits equal to those provided in the group policy from which the individual converted.

Thus, the legislature clearly chose <u>not</u> to override the previous case law, and gave the new amendment prospective effect only, at least as to this issue. Furthermore, the legislature enacted a different subsection (10) requiring a maximum of the lesser of the group policy or \$500,000. It would appear that they recognized or compromised finding that a \$250,000 policy like the one in this case is insufficient to accomplish the necessary public purposes of insuring adequate health care coverage for persons most needing same.

This type of statutory construction as used by the <u>Shufelt</u> and <u>Northbrook</u> courts is supported by the Florida case law as referenced in <u>Jett v. State</u>, 605 So.2d 926 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), and the cases cited therein acknowledging the concept that when the literal context of a statute conflicts with the clearly discernible legislative intent, the context yields to the legislative purpose to prevent defeat of that purpose/intent. See also <u>Griffis v. State</u>, 356 So.2d 297, 299 (Fla. 1978). These types of statutes are enacted in the public interest and should be liberally construed in favor of that purpose and in favor of the public, i.e. the Plaintiff, Barbara Savona.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The Magistrate while choosing not to follow the decisions of the intermediate appellate courts in Florida has substituted its rationale and reasoning for that of the state courts. Furthermore, the Court's attempt at discovering legislative intent seems to be flawed by disregarding the above referenced deletions.

Therefore, Plaintiff submits that the certified question should be answered consistently with the case law and statutory history/changes so as to provide her with conversion benefits in the amount of \$1,000,000 which was the same provided to her under the group plan.