Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORE TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA	FILE D
CASE NO. 82,933	APR 20 1994
	STERK SIMO

BARBARA A. SAVONA,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

vs.

PRUDENTIAL INSURANCE CO.,

Defendant-Appellee-Respondent.

CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES
COURT OF APPEALS ELEVENTH CIRCUIT, CASE NO. 93-2281
BASED ON APPEAL FROM ORDER ENTERED FEBRUARY 11, 1993,
BY MAGISTRATE D.P. DIETRICH, JUDGE FOR THE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA,
ORLANDO DIVISION, D.C. NO. 91-00462-CIV-ORL-19

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, PRUDENTIAL

MELISSA ARONY, ATTORNEY
Eubanks, Hilyard, Rumbley,
Meier & Lengauer, P.A.
Post Office Box 4973
Orlando, Florida 32802-4973

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

- The United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida was justified in deviating from the intermediate appellate court decisions in Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. v. Shufelt, 487 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), and Northbrook Life Ins. Co. v. Clark, 582 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991), for they were not binding evidence of state law and were not good predictors of what the state supreme court would do given a similar case. The United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida was justified in its deviation from the Shufelt and Clark decisions that were published in conflict with the consistent legislative history of the pertinent statutory provisions found in The consistent statutory history §627.6675, Florida Statutes. evidenced clear legislative intent which allowed, at the option of the insurer, an individual policy providing a maximum benefit in the amount of two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000), as was afforded to the Plaintiff/Appellant in the instant case. United States Magistrate Judge Dietrich correctly construed §627.6675, Florida Statutes, and appropriately interpreted legislative intent when he ruled in favor of the Defendant-Appellee, that an Individual Conversion Policy need not provide benefits equal to that of the group policy from which conversion was made, and therefore final judgment in favor of the Defendant-Appellee should be affirmed.
- II. In the alternative, should this court in a "de novo" review determine it should analyze Plaintiff's-Appellant's claims

by applying ERISA principles to the employer's self-funded plan at issue in this case, this court is obligated by ERISA to enforce the express provisions of an ERISA plan and is prohibited by ERISA from rewriting any of the terms of an ERISA plan. That plan specifically, unequivocally and unambiguously states that its terms are different from that of the Individual Conversion Policy provided as an option by the employer. Further, the Individual Conversion Policy upon which the Plaintiff's-Appellant's claim for one million dollars (\$1,000,000) rests, specifically, unequivocally and unambiguously states that the maximum aggregate benefits are two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000). Therefore, the United States Magistrate Judge Dietrich's ultimate decision, that Defendant-Appellee Prudential is not required to pay Plaintiff-Appellant in excess of two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000) pursuant to the Plaintiff's-Appellant's Individual Conversion Policy, is also correct when applying federal ERISA principles to the facts of this case and therefore, the summary judgment in favor of Prudential should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE DIETRICH CORRECTLY CONSTRUED §627.6675, FLORIDA STATUTES, AND APPROPRIATELY INTERPRETED LEGISLATIVE INTENT WHEN HE RULED IN FAVOR OF DEFENDANT-APPELLEE THAT AN INDIVIDUAL CONVERSION POLICY NEED NOT PROVIDE BENEFITS EQUAL TO THAT OF THE GROUP POLICY FROM WHICH CONVERSION WAS MADE.

Clearly the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida was correct in applying the rationale used by the Seventh Circuit in Williams, McCarthy, Kinley, Rudy & Picha v. Northwestern National Insurance Group, 750 F.2d 619 (7th Cir. 1984), when it acknowledged that it is the Supreme Court of Florida which is the final authority on the meaning of Florida Statutes, and that an intermediate or appellate court decision is not binding evidence of state law and circumstances when it is not a good predictor of what the state's highest court would do in a similar case. See Williams at 624. See also West v. American Telephone and Telegraph Co., 311 U.S. 223, 237, 61 S.Ct. 179, 183, 85 L.Ed.2d 139 (1940); 19 Wright, Miller & Cooper Federal Practice and Procedure §4507, at p. 95 (1982).

In the instance of interpreting state law, the goal of the federal courts is to try to get the same result that would be reached in the state courts. Where a statutory language in its amended form is plain, the federal court is entitled to resolve the conflict in interpretation of that law where the Supreme Court of Florida has not spoken on the interpretation of the particular statute in question. See Oliva v. Pan American Life Insurance Co., 448 F.2d 217, 221 (5th Cir. (Fla.) 1971). Plaintiff's-Appellant's reliance upon Flintkote Co. v. Dravo Corp., 678 F.2d 942 (11th Cir.

1982) is misplaced because <u>Flintkote</u> is factually distinguished in that it is a case where the federal jurisdiction is based on diversity citizenship, and a case in which there was no plain statute in direct conflict with the decision of the Georgia court of appeals under consideration.

In the instant case, the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida was correct in its determination that it was not bound to adhere to decisions of the Florida intermediate appellate courts, specifically the Shufelt and Clark decisions, because there was very persuasive indication as evidenced by the plain language of §627.6675, Florida Statutes, that the Supreme Court of Florida would decide the issue otherwise. When there exists the plain language of a statute which clearly portrays legislative intent, this serves as a persuasive indication as to how the state's highest court would rule. In the instant case the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida was justified in its deviation from the Shufelt and Clark decisions that were published in conflict with the consistent history of the pertinent statutory provisions found in §627.6675, Florida Statutes, evidencing clear legislative intent. A federal court applying state law is only bound to adhere to decisions of the state's intermediate appellate courts absent some persuasive indication that the state's highest court would decide the issue otherwise. Silverberg v. Paine, Webber, Jackson & Curtis, Inc.,

Blue Cross/Blue Shield v. Shufelt, 487 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); Northbrook Life Insurance v. Clark, 582 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991).

710 F.2d 678, 690 (11th Cir. 1983) (Emphasis supplied.) See also Studstill v. Borg Warner Leasing, 806 F.2d 1005, 1007 (11th Cir. 1986); Provau v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 772 F.2d 817, 820 (11th Cir. 1985). In addition, United States Magistrate Judge Dietrich clearly explained in a detailed analysis in his Memorandum Opinion dated February 11, 1993, why he deviated from reliance upon the intermediate state court Shufelt and Clark decisions.

In a well reasoned opinion, the Honorable Magistrate Dietrich details the flaws in the Shufelt and Clark decisions as well as outlines the statutory amendments to the pertinent conversion policy statute that have occurred since the Shufelt and Clark decisions were published. See Memorandum Opinion, Appendix, Exhibit "A2". Obviously, the analysis presented in the Memorandum Opinion by the Honorable Magistrate Dietrich reveals that there were great persuasive indications that the Supreme Court of Florida would decide the issue differently than did the intermediate appellate court in the Shufelt and Clark decisions, and as clearly, the District Court Opinion reveals that it was not simply based on the Honorable Magistrate Dietrich's disagreement with the state courts' reasoning or the outcome which the decisions dictated. Even a cursory review of the analysis in the Honorable Magistrate Dietrich's Memorandum Opinion reveals that he did not simply, unthinkingly deviate from the intermediate appellate court cases, but rather, carefully analyzed the pertinent Individual Conversion Policy statutory amendments, and the actions taken by the state legislature since the intermediate state court decisions, which appeared to be an attempt to change those court decisions. See Oliva v. Pan American Life Insurance Co., 448 F.2d 217, 221 (5th Cir. 1971); Wright, Miller & Cooper Federal Practice and Procedure: Jurisdiction Sec. 4507 (1982).

In his Memorandum Opinion, the Honorable Magistrate Dietrich accurately outlined the history of amendments to the pertinent statute, and as Plaintiff-Appellant indicated in her Brief, there has been additional legislative activity on that statute since the publication of the district court's Memorandum Opinion. A review of the legislative history of §627.6675, Florida Statutes, reveals that the legislative intent regarding the insurer's obligation with respect to conversion policy benefits has been consistent and that, as the district court concluded in its Memorandum Opinion, p.9, the amendments to §627.6675, Florida Statutes, have made clear beyond any question what the unamended statute already had allowed: that a converted policy need not provide benefits equal to that of the group policy.²

The following outline of the legislative amendment to §627.6675, Florida Statutes, reveals that the United States District Magistrate Dietrich was justified in his belief that the

Prudential, in discussing the legislature's intent regarding <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §627.6675, does not recede from its original position that the original benefit plan, upon which Plaintiff's-Appellant's claim and appeal is based, is not a group insurance policy, but rather is an employee benefit plan sponsored by the employer through a self-funded trust. (See "Summary Plan Description", p. SKF-45 of the "Your Employee Benefit Plan", Appendix, Exhibit "C".)

Supreme Court of Florida would not follow the decisions in Shufelt Clark, at least not the Plaintiff's interpretation of §627.6675, Florida Statutes, as applied to the facts of this case. As indicated in Magistrate Dietrich's Memorandum Opinion, both the Shufelt and Clark opinions are unclear, particularly when contrasted with the very plain language of the pertinent statute, Plaintiff's-Appellant's Thus Florida Statutes. §627.6675. argument, that the Honorable Magistrate Dietrich erred in deviating from the intermediate state appellate court opinions, fails and is See <u>Diesel Service Co. v. AMBAC International</u> without merit. Corp., 961 F.2d 635, 639 (7th Cir. 1992).

A review of §627.6675, Florida Statutes, (1985) reveals that even as back as far as 1985, the pertinent policy provisions were as follows:

(8) BENEFITS OFFERED - An insurer shall not be required to issue a converted policy which provides benefits in excess of those provided under the group policy from which conversion is made.

. . .

(11) OPTIONAL COVERAGE: MAJOR MEDICAL - Subject to the provisions and conditions of this part, if the group insurance policy from which conversion is made insures the employee or member for major medical expense insurance, the employee or member shall be entitled to obtain a converted policy providing catastrophic or major medical coverage under a plan meeting the following requirements:

(a) A maximum benefit at least equal to either, at the option of the insurer, the amount specified in subparagraph 1

or subparagraph 2.

1. The smaller of the following amounts:

- a. The maximum benefit provided under the group policy.
- b. A maximum payment of \$250,000 per covered person for all covered medical expenses incurred during the covered person's lifetime.

2. The smaller of the following amounts:

a. The maximum benefit provided under the group policy.

b. A maximum payment of \$250,000 for each unrelated injury or sickness. (Emphasis supplied.)

A review of §627.6675, Florida Statutes, (1987) reveals that the above pertinent policy provisions remain identical, reflecting consistent legislative intent allowing, at the option of the insurer, an individual policy providing a maximum benefit in the amount of two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000), as was afforded to Plaintiff-Appellant in the instant case.

A review of §627.6675, Florida Statutes, (1989) contains the above identical provisions as found in subsections (8) and (11). A review of §627.6675, Florida Statutes (1991), also reveals that the above referenced provisions remain identical, evidencing the continuing intent of the legislature which clearly provides the insurer with the option of providing a maximum conversion policy benefit consisting of the smaller of two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000), or the group policy limits.

Even in 1992, when there were significant amendments made to §627.6675, Florida Statutes, the above referenced provisions remained almost identical, however, the above referenced subsection (11) became subsection (10). In subsection (10) the legislature modified the required option for major medical coverage in pertinent part providing that the employee or member is entitled to obtain a converted policy providing major medical coverage under a plan meeting the following requirements:

a. A maximum benefit equal to the lesser of the policy limit of the group policy from which the individual converted, or \$500,000 per covered person for all covered medical expenses incurred during the covered person's lifetime. (Emphasis supplied.)

Although by 1992, the legislature saw fit to raise the sum per covered person, the statutory language is plain in that the insurer still has the choice to provide a maximum benefit equal to the policy limit of the group policy, or five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000) per covered person, whichever is the lesser amount. Even in the 1992 supplement to the Florida Statutes, (1991), the legislature did not eliminate this provision, or add language to evidence an intent to require the insurer to provide a maximum benefit equal to the group policy limits from which the individual converted. Most significantly, in the 1992 supplement to the Florida Statutes (1991), the legislature added an additional provision as follows:

(20) NOTHING IN THIS SECTION OR IN THE INCORPORATION OF IT INTO AN INSURANCE POLICY SHALL BE CONSTRUED TO REQUIRE INSURERS TO PROVIDE BENEFITS EQUAL TO THOSE PROVIDED IN THE GROUP POLICY FROM WHICH THE INDIVIDUAL CONVERTED, provided however, that comprehensive benefits are offered which shall be subject to approval by the insurance commissioner. (Emphasis supplied.)

As Plaintiff-Appellant indicates in its Brief, there was originally additional language in this provision which was deleted prior to the provision taking effect in October 1992. However, clearly for the purposes of this case, the most significant language, as emphasized above in subsection (20), remains as an amendment to the statute clarifying and specifying the legislative intent of this section that it does not require the issuance of conversion policies providing benefits equal to those provided in the group policy from which the individual converted.

In reviewing the history of the pertinent provisions outlined above, it cannot be disputed that the legislative intent has been clear as far back as 1985, and consistent, even through the amendments up to the present date, affording the insurer the option of providing a maximum conversion policy benefit of the smaller of two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000) (or now five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000)), or the group policy limits. Nowhere in any of the pertinent policy provisions through the history of this statute since at least 1985, did the legislature evidence an intent to require insurers to provide benefits equal to those provided in the group policy from which the individual converted. Consequently, the <u>Shufelt</u> and <u>Clark</u> decisions relied upon by the Plaintiff-Appellant are not persuasive in light of the legislative history outlined above, and as analyzed by the United States District Court Magistrate Judge Dietrich in his Memorandum Opinion.

Further, a close look at both cases relied upon by Plaintiff-Appellant, Northbrook Life Ins. Co. v. Clark, 582 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991), and Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. v. Shufelt, 487 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), reveal that these cases are distinguished from the facts in the instant case in a very significant manner. As explained in detail in Defendant-Appellee's Statement of the Facts, Barbara Savona was enrolled in a benefit plan through her employer, entitled "Your Employee Benefit", provided by the SKF Group Benefit Plans Trust through a self-funded program. The Prudential Insurance Company of America only provided certain administrative services in connection with

the plan. In Northbrook Life Ins. Co. v. Clark, the plaintiff was an insured under a group health insurance plan underwritten by Northbrook Life Insurance Company, in contrast to the employer's self-funded plan which is at issue in the instant case. Likewise, in Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. v. Shufelt, appellee-employee Shufelt was injured while covered under a health and accident policy issued by appellant's insurer, Blue Cross/Blue Shield, through employer. In the Shufelt case, as well as the Northbrook Life case, the plaintiffs' claims arose from a group insurance policy offered by an insurance company for delivery in A close look at these cases reveals that the State of Florida. neither case discusses, in any way, the implementation of a major medical expense benefit plan provided by a group benefit plans trust through the employer's self-funded program. Therefore, Plaintiff's-Appellant's emphasis on Northbrook Life Ins. Co. V. Clark and Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. v. Shufelt to support her Appeal is misplaced. See Fla. Stat. §627.651(5), wherein in pertinent part, it states:

(5) This section does <u>not</u> apply to any plan which is <u>established or maintained by an individual employer in accordance with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ... (Emphasis Supplied).</u>

Consequently, The United States District Court Magistrate Dietrich's denial of the Plaintiff's-Appellant's Petition for Declaratory Relief, and entry of judgment on behalf of the Defendant-Appellee, Prudential and against the Plaintiff-Appellant, Savona, should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

II. THE UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE DIETRICH'S ULTIMATE DECISION, THAT PRUDENTIAL WAS NOT REQUIRED TO PAY PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT IN EXCESS OF TWO HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$250,000) PURSUANT TO PLAINTIFF'S-APPELLANT'S INDIVIDUAL CONVERSION POLICY, IS ALSO CORRECT WHEN APPLYING FEDERAL ERISA PRINCIPLES TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

Defendant-Appellee Prudential vehemently disagrees with Plaintiff-Appellant Savona's argument, found on Page 6 of its Brief, that "this case is not in any way connected with ERISA, and that the decision of the Magistrate and the submission of the Certified Question to the Supreme Court of Florida for its interpretation, puts the applicability of ERISA versus Florida law to rest." As previously stated in Defendant-Appellee Prudential's Statement of the Case, in its <u>per curiam</u> opinion, the Eleventh Circuit, in certifying its question, did not intend the particular phrasing of the question to limit the Supreme Court of Florida in its consideration of the problem posed by the case.

Defendant-Appellee Prudential originally removed this case from the State Court to the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida under the authority of 28 U.S.C. §1441 et seq., because Plaintiff-Appellant's Petition for Declaratory Relief set forth facts sounding in a federal cause of action seeking redress under an employee benefit plan, as defined in 29 U.S.C. §1001(1), which constituted a federal question sufficient for removal to the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. Although the United States district courts have original jurisdiction over civil actions arising under 29

U.S.C. §1132(a)(1)(B), state courts have concurrent jurisdiction pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §1132(e)(1). See Reineke v. Reineke, 627 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); Shideler v. Connecticut General Life Ins. Co., 563 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); and Neubauer v. Safeco Life Ins. Co., 532 So.2d 732 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988). Further, Defendant-Appellee Prudential disagreed with the Eleventh Circuit Court's characterization that it was "an undisputed fact that the benefit plan in question was a group insurance policy issued for delivery in the State of Florida". The exact nature of the underlying benefit plan appears to be a disputed fact. A close review of the benefit plan in question will reveal it is not, as described in Fla. Stat. §627.6675, "a group policy delivered or issued for delivery in the State by an insurer ...", and therefore, whether Fla. Stat. §627.6675 even applies to the facts of this case, is also at issue. (See e.g., Fla. Stat. §627.651(5)).

Prudential has consistently argued to the Middle District Court of Florida and in its Answer Brief in response to Plaintiff-Appellant's Appeal to the Eleventh Circuit, that the "Your Employee Benefit Plan" was governed by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act in 1974, commonly known as ERISA, 29 U.S.C.S. §§1001 et seq. At no time was the employee benefit plan sponsored by Schimberg, Kennedy & Frost ("SKF") deemed by Prudential to be an insurance policy offered for delivery in the State of Florida, which could be regulated by the State insurance laws. It has been the position of Prudential at all times that, Plaintiff-Appellant's Petition for Declaratory Relief, which sought relief relating to

her employee welfare benefit plan, raised issues constituting a federal question sufficient for removal to the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. At no time has it been the position of Prudential that the plan in question was anything other than the employer's self-funded program under which Prudential Insurance Company of America only acted to provide certain administrative services in connection with the plan. Florida district courts of appeal have acknowledged that ERISA regulates employee benefits plans, including ones providing for medical and hospital care, if the plan is established or maintained by an employer or employee organization, or both. ERISA, §4(a), 29 U.S.C. §1003(a); Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. v. Weiner, 543 So.2d 794, 798 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). In the Weiner case, the insurer, Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Maryland, asserted to the district court on appeal that it lacked jurisdiction on the subject matter, because the plaintiff's claim relating to insurance benefits was preempted by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. The Fourth District Court of Appeal acknowledged that ERISA does regulate employee benefits plans, including ones providing for medical and hospital care, if the plan is established or maintained by an employer or employee organization, or both. However, the district court found in Weiner that the record did not support a conclusion that there was an employee plan. In Weiner, the Fourth District Court of Appeal found that, the plaintiff was the sole proprietor, who simply purchased a group policy for his family, and that there was no plan, or even an informal agreement,

established or maintained by an employer or employee organization. Based on that finding, the Fourth District Court of Appeal determined that ERISA did not apply to the facts of that case. Clearly, in contrast, the record herein reveals the existence of an employee plan sponsored by an employer through a self-funded trust, such that ERISA does regulate this employee benefit plan in which Mrs. Savona was enrolled, and which forms the basis of her appeal.

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